
William R. Baker III

Debra Patalkis (DP 0664)
Kathleen M. Hamm

Nina B. Finston

Brian O. Quinn
James J. Bresnicky

Securities and Exchange Commission
450 Fifth Street, N.W.
Mail Stop 8-8
Washington, D.C. 20549-0808
(202) 942-7133 (Patalkis)
(202) 942-9569 (Patalkis fax)

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,

v.

MILAN CAPITAL GROUP, INC., INVESTMENT
OFFICES d/b/a AC FINANCIAL, INC.,
IRA A. MONAS, MICHAEL IRWIN LAMHUT
and JASON M. COPE,

Defendants,

and

RITA A. MONAS, JENNIFER MONAS, SANDS
POINT INTERNATIONAL CORP.,
DOUGLAS H. MONAS, MICHAEL'S
CAPITAL CONSULTANTS, INC. and HWK
CONSULTANTS, INC.,

Relief Defendants.
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00 Civ. 0108 (DLC)

AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Securities and ExchangeCommission (the "Commission") alleges:



NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This case involves a Ponzi scheme inwhich the defendants offered and

purported to sell shares in initial public offerings ("IPOs"). The defendants collected

millions ofdollars from atleast 190 unsuspecting investors who were told that the

defendants had access tothe market for certain highly-publicized IPOs and could

purchase shares in the IPOs at the initial offering prices. These representations were

false. The defendants neither had access to the exclusive IPO market nor purchased IPO

shares for the investors. Instead, the defendants stole the investors' money and, tocreate

the illusion of legitimate stock purchases, disseminated phony confirmations and account

statements to investors. They also returned relatively small sums ofmoney tosome

victims who were defrauded in the early stages ofthe Ponzi scheme, falsely representing

ment ofprincipal and profits on the sham IPO investments.

2. On January 7, 2000, the assets ofdefendant Milan Capital Group, Inc.

("Milan Capital") were frozen and other injunctive reliefwas ordered by this Court to

enjoin Milan Capital from acting in the future as an unregistered broker-dealer in

violation ofSection 15(a) ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"),

and to preserve its assets and the remaining investor funds. Defendant Ira Monas,

formerly areliefdefendant, and reliefdefendant Rita Monas were also enjoined from

destroying or concealing evidence relating to the activities ofMilan Capital. A

preliminary injunction continuing this relief through trial has been entered by this Court.

3. On February 14, 2000, the Court entered atemporary restraining order

that, among other things, froze certain assets ofdefendants Ira Monas and Michael Irwin



Lamhut and the reliefdefendants. Thehearing for a preliminary injunction on these

matters is scheduled to begin on February 29.

4. Byengaging in theconduct alleged inthis Amended Complaint, the

defendants each violated the antifraud provisions of the Securities Actof 1933 (the

"Securities Act") and Exchange Act. Milan Capital also violated, andthe other

defendants aidedand abetted its violations of, the broker-dealer registration provisions of

the Exchange Act. Unless restrained and enjoined by this Court, they will likely continue

toengage inthis type ofviolative conduct. The SEC accordingly seeks against: (a) all

defendants (i) an injunction against future violations; (ii) a verified accounting ofthe

receipt and disbursement ofinvestors' funds, (iii) disgorgement ofill-gotten gains with

prejudgment interest; and (iv) statutory money penalties; and (b) against each ofthe relief

defendants, a verified accounting ofthe receipt and disbursement ofinvestors' funds and

disgorgement of ill-gottengains with prejudgment interest.

JURISDICTION

5. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 22(a) ofthe

Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77v(a)] and Sections 21(d)(3), 21(e), and 27of the Exchange

Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d)(3)(A), 78u(e), and 78aa].

6. Defendants, directly or indirectly, have made useof themeans and

instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the mails, or of the facilities of a national

securities exchange inconnection with the acts, practices and courses ofbusiness alleged

herein.



DEFENDANTS

7. IraA. Monas ("Monas"), age45, is in the custody ofthe New York

Department ofCorrections at the AdirondackCorrectional Facility in Ray Brook, New

York, where he is serving a two-to-four year sentence for grand larceny.

8. Milan Capital Group, Inc. is aNew York corporation with offices located

in Melville, New York. It is not, and has never been, registered with the Commission as

a broker-dealer and, therefore, is prohibited by the federal securities laws from selling,

offeringto sell, or inducing the saleof securities. Monas is the president and sole owner

ofMilan Capital.

9. Investment Offices, which does businessunder the name AC Financial,

Inc. ("AC Financial"), is a Maine corporation, registered with the Commission as a

broker-dealer pursuant to Section 15(b) ofthe Exchange Act. Acting through relief

defendant Sands Point International Corp. ("Sands Point"), Monas purchased AC

Financial in mid-1999.

10. Michael Irwin Lamhut ("Lamhut"), age 53, resides in Levittown, New

York. Shortly before Monas was incarcerated in October 1999, he hired Lamhut to

operate Milan Capital. Lamhut is licensedto sell securities and to supervise other

licensed securities salespersons.

11. Jason M. Cope ("Cope"), age26, resides in Coraopolis, Pennsylvania. At

all relevant times, he was licensed to sell securitiesand supervise other licensed securities

salespersons. Cope opened, and became the branch managerof, an office ofAC

Financial in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania in or around June 1999. Throughout his association

with AC Financial, Cope offered and purportedly sold securities to the public and



supervised the activities ofall other securities salespersons in AC Financial's Pittsburgh

branch office.

RELIEF DEFENDANTS

12. Rita A. Monas ("R. Monas") is the secretary of Milan Capital and assistant

secretary of Sands Point. She resides in Massapequa Park, New York and is, or was,

married to Monas.

13. Jennifer Monas ("J. Monas"), age 19, was employed by Milan Capital and

is a daughter ofMonas and R. Monas.

14. Sands Point International Corp., a New York corporation, was purchased

by Monas in 1998. Monas acquired AC Financial through Sands Point in 1999. Sands

Point has no known place ofbusiness and receives communicationsonly at Milan

Capital's Melvill office.

15. Douglas H. Monas ("D. Monas"), age 41, resides in New York, New

York. He is the brother of Ira Monas. D. Monas holds 90 percent of Sands Point's stock

for the purpose ofconcealing Ira Monas's ownership and control ofbroker-dealer AC

Financial.

16. Michael's Capital Consultants, Inc. is a New York corporation. Lamhut is

its president.

17. HWK Consultants, Inc. is a New York corporation of which Lamhut is a

director.



THE IPO PONZI SCHEME

18. In the fall of 1999, World Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc.

("WWF"), United ParcelService, Inc. ("UPS"), FreeMarkets, Inc. ("FreeMarkets") and

Fogdog, Inc. ("Fogdog") offered theirsecurities to thepublic for the first timein initial

publicofferings, commonly known as IPOs. Thesestockofferings were widely reported

in the media as "hot" IPOs, meaning that they were oversubscribed and difficult to

purchase.

19. Monas, Cope, AC Financial and,on information and belief, Lamhut

offered to sell,and purportedly sold, IPO shares in WWF and UPS to investors in several

states in October and November 1999.

20. The defendants offered to sell and purportedly sold IPO shares in UPS in

October and November, and FreeMarkets and Fogdog IPO shares in late November and

December 1999 to investors in several states.

21. At the instruction ofMonas and Lamhut, Cope and AC Financial solicited

sales of the IPO shares ofthese companies through a series of misrepresentations to

investors. Among other false statements, Copeand AC Financial told investors that AC

Financial's Pittsburghoffice had access to the IPO sharesthrough Milan Capital and/or

Monas. Cope and AC Financial also misrepresented to the putative investors that IPO

shareshad been purchasedfor them. Eachdefendantknew or was reckless in not

knowing that these representations were materially false and misleading. At the time of

the UPS, FreeMarkets and Fogdog IPOs, Monas and Lamhut also failed to disclose to

investors that Monas was serving a prison sentence for grand larceny. They knew or

were reckless in not knowing that this omission was materially misleading.



22. Milan Capital and Sands Point each maintained a checking account at

HSBC Bank USA (formerly known as Marine Midland Bank). At all relevant times,

Monas andR. Monas hadsole authority to withdraw funds from the Milan Capital

account. In addition to Monas and R. Monas, D. Monas also has authority to withdraw

funds from the Sands Point account. The investors' funds were mailed or wired to Milan

Capital and Sands Point, and Milan Capital and Sands Point compensated Cope and other

salespersons in AC Financial's Pittsburgh office for purported IPO sales. At least some

of these funds passed through HSBC's branch officeat 140 Broadway in Manhattan. At

the direction of Monas, LamhutandCope, Milan Capital prepared trade confirmations

and account statements for the IPO investors and provided these phony transaction

documents to some investors directly andto otherinvestorsthroughCope and AC

l-December, the defendants' alleged sales of IPO securities exceeded

$8.7 million from at least 190 investors.

23. The defendants did not buy any IPO shares ofWWF, UPS, FreeMarkets or

Fogdog. Instead, mostof the WWF and some UPS investor funds were deposited in

Sands Point's bank account. The rest ofthe WWF and UPS investor funds, along with

funds from the FreeMarkets andFogdog investors, were deposited in Milan Capital's

bank account.

24. Monas, Lamhut, Milan Capital and Sands Point used investors' funds to

compensate Cope and other salespersons in AC Financial's Pittsburgh office, and to pay

for Milan Capital's operating expenses and personal expenses of Monas and his family,

including reliefdefendants R. Monas, J. Monas and D. Monas. Lamhut also looted

hundreds of thousands ofdollars of investors' funds from Milan Capital's HSBC bank



accountin the hours before its assets werefrozen, and depositedthese monies into the

accounts of his own companies, reliefdefendants Michael's Capital Consultants, Inc. and

HWK Consultants, Inc.

25. Monas, Lamhut andCope also sentproceeds from Milan Capital's

accounts to some of the victims of the first two IPO scams - WWF and UPS ~

misrepresenting these payments as the return of principal andprofits on theirphantom

investments. In response to materially false and misleading sales pitches byCope and

AC Financial, the substance of whichis described withparticularity above, someof these

investors parlayed theirpurported returns into purchases of sham IPO shares of

FreeMarkets and Fogdog.

FIRST CLAIM

Fraud in Connection With the

Purchase or Sale of Securities in Violation of
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5

26. Paragraphs 1 to 25 are realleged and incorporated by reference.

27. Byreason of theforegoing, the defendants violated Section 10(b) of the

Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-

5].

SECOND CLAIM

Fraud in the Offer or Sale of Securities in Violation
of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act

28. Paragraphs 1 to 25 are realleged and incorporated by reference.

29. By reason of the foregoing, the defendants violated Section 17(a) of the

Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)].



THIRD CLAIM

Unregistered Broker-Dealer in Violations
of Exchange Act Section 15(a)

30. Paragraphs 1 to 25 are realleged andincorporated by reference.

31. Fromat least October 1999 through January 7,2000, MilanCapital made

use of the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce and of the mails to effect,

induce, and attempt to induce the purchase and sale ofsecurities without being registered

with the Commission as a broker or dealer in accordance with Section 15(b) of the

Exchange Act, and when no exemption from registration wasavailable.

32. Byreason of the foregoing, Milan Capital violated Section 15(a) of the

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78o(a0] and, unless permanently restrained, will again violate

Section 15(a)ofthe Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78o(a)].

FOURTH CLAIM

Aiding and Abetting the Violations ofthe Broker-Dealer
Registration of Exchange Act Section 15(a)

33. Paragraphs 1to 25, 31 and 32 are realleged and incorporated byreference.

34. By reason ofthe foregoing, the defendants aided andabetted Milan

Capital's violations of Section 15(a) ofthe Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78o(a)].

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Commissionrespectfully requests that this Court enter a

judgment:

(i) permanently enjoining thedefendants from violating Section 17(a) ofthe

Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77q(a)] and Sections 10(b) ofthe Exchange



Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-

5];

(ii) permanently enjoining the defendants from violating Section 15(a) ofthe

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)];

(iii) ordering eachdefendant andreliefdefendant to provide a verified

accounting and disgorge all ill-gotten gains from the conduct alleged

herein, plus prejudgment interest;

(iv) ordering the defendants to each pay civil money penalties pursuantto

Section 20(d) ofthe Securities Act and Section 21(d)(3) ofthe Exchange

Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(d) and 78u(d)(3)]; and

(v) granting such other relief as this Court may deem just and appropriate.

Dated: February 29, 2000
Washington, D.C.
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Debra Patalk%jPP 0664)
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Brian O. Quinn
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(202) 942-7133 (Patalkis)
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